

Transgenesis of *Physcomitrella patens*

Sung Hyun Cho^{1,2} • Ralph S. Quatrano² • Jeong Sheop Shin^{1*}

School of Life Sciences and Biotechnology, Korea University, Seoul 136-701, Korea
² Biology Department, Washington University, St. Louis, MO 63130-4899, USA

Corresponding author: * jsshin@korea.ac.kr

ABSTRACT

The moss *Physcomitrella patens* has a simple life cycle, relatively few cell types during gametophytic growth, similar responses to plant growth regulators and environmental factors as seed plants, high regeneration capacity after homogenization, and dominant haploid generation, and as such, is an excellent experimental system. In addition to being able to use most molecular and biochemical methodologies, one can apply efficient gene targeting techniques to study gene function. For transformation, polyethyleneglycol-mediated protoplast transformation and particle bombardment-mediated biolistic delivery method are both efficient methods to introduce genes into gametophytic tissue. Finally, the genome of *P. patens* genome has been sequenced and assembled.

Keywords: homologous recombination, *Physcomitrella patens*, transformation

Abbreviations: ABA, abscisic acid; *ABI3*, *ABSCISIC ACID INSENSITIVE 3*; *Act*1, *actin* I; Arp2/3, actin-related protein2/3; *CaMV*, *Cauliflower mosaic virus*; EM, early-methionine-labeled; *fuc-t*, *fucosyltransferase*; HR, homologous recombination; NOS, nopaline synthetase; PEG, polyethyleneglycol; RNAi, RNA interference; *xyl-t*, *xylosyltransferase*

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
TRANSFORMATION OF P. patens	
VECTOR CONSTRUCTS	
Selection cassettes	
Overexpression vector	
Targeting vector	
RNAi vector	
CHLOROPLAST TRANSFORMATION	
TAGGED-MUTANT LIBRARIES	
CONCLUSION	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	

INTRODUCTION

Phylogenetic studies indicate that bryophytes may have formed a sister clade with vascular plants, therefore making P. patens an ideal plant for comparative studies of biological processes in land plants (Schaefer and Zryd 2001). P. patens is a monoecious moss and requires very simple growth conditions for the completion of its life cycle (Cove and Knight 1993). The dominant haploid gametophyte (Fig. 1) is composed of a filamentous protonema and a leafy gametophore tissue (Reski 1999; Cove 2000), both of which are good resources for cell biological studies. In addition, dominant haploidy makes mutant isolation and genetic analysis easier than in other species with dominant diploidy. P. patens possess the ability to regenerate protonemal tissue from any tissues within a week after blending the tissues with a homogenizer (Cove 2000), which makes it easier to obtain sample for transformation and regenerants after transformation. Like higher plants, P. patens is regulated by plant hormones such as auxin (Imaizumi et al. 2002), cytokinin (Schulz et al. 2001), and abscisic acid (ABA) (Knight et al. 1995; Kamisugi and Cuming 2005) and environmental signals (Schumaker and Dietrich 1998; Cove et al. 2006). Furthermore, the transcription factor ABSCISIC ACID

INSENSITIVE 3 (ABI3), which is involved with regulation of a subset of ABA-regulated genes during seed development, was shown to be functional in *P. patens* (Marella *et al.* 2006). The genome sequence of *P. patens* is about 487 Mbp, which is about three fold bigger than the *Arabidopsis* genome. The most unique advantage of *P. patens* among plant species is its high frequency homologous recombination (HR), which enables gene targeting for studying the functions of genes (Schaefer and Zryd 1997; Schaefer 2001; Decker and Reski 2004; Reski and Frank 2005; Cove 2006; Kamisugi *et al.* 2006).

Since transformation is an essential component of studying gene function in this system, our review focuses on this topic.

TRANSFORMATION OF P. patens

Protonemal tissue is exclusively used for transformation of *P. patens*, because it grows very fast, regenerates efficiently, and provides facilitated protoplast isolation. It is not necessary to supplement any additive or hormone other than the minimal mineral medium which is used for normal growth (Ashton and Cove 1977), for preparation of tissue before transformation (Cove 2000). Transformation of *P.*



Fig. 1 The life cycle of *P. patens*. The development of *Physcomitrella* starts with the germination of spores, resulting in the formation of a filamentous structure, protonema, which is the juvenile gametophyte. Protonema grows by apical cell division, which develops into leafy adult gametophytes, gametophore. Gametophore generates the sex organs, resulting in the diploid sporophyte by fertilization. "n" and "2n" mean haploidy and diploidy, respectively.

patens commonly uses polyethyleneglycol (PEG)-mediated protoplast transformation (Schaefer *et al.* 1991) and microprojectile particle bombardment (Sawahel *et al.* 1992; Cho *et al.* 1999), the former being used more frequently (Frank *et al.* 2005; Cove 2006). For PEG-mediated transformation, protoplasts are isolated by digestion of the cell wall of protonemal tissue with Driselase enzyme. Single-stranded DNA by restriction enzymes makes integration and targeting rate higher. Particle bombardment is carried out by shooting protonemal tissue grown on a cellophane-overlaid medium (Cho *et al.* 1999). Denaturation of the secondary structure of plasmids before bombardment increases the efficiency of transformation.

Both methods of transformation produce three types of regenerants after selection for plasmid-encoded antibiotic resistance (Cove and Knight 1993; Cove 2000, 2006). The first type expresses transgenes transiently, so that it cannot be sub-cultured to subsequent selective medium. The second type shows resistance to antibiotics. However, it retains resistance only while selection is maintained. Once the selection is relaxed, the transgenes are lost rapidly. These transgenics are likely to replicate plasmid DNA extrachromosomally, and are thus considered unstable. The last type retains resistance even after relaxing selection, and molecular analysis identifies integration of DNA at a genomic locus, i.e. stable transformation. In order to obtain stably transformed transgenic lines, at least two rounds of selection and selection relax cycles are necessary. Stably transformed transgenics usually have multiple numbers of integrated transgenes in the genome, with average of 11 copies per plant (Kamisugi et al. 2006).

Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated transformation was reported unsuccessful because *P. patens* is not a host (Baur *et al.* 2005). However, recently a new virulent strain has been tried (Cove 2006) and may result in the higher rates of stable transformation compared with PEG or particle bombardment-mediated methods.

VECTOR CONSTRUCTS

Selection cassettes

Commonly used selection markers are also applicable for the selection of transformants in *P. patens*, e.g. geneticin *npt*II (Sakakibara *et al.* 2003), hygromycin *hph* (Kaewsuwan *et al.* 2006), and zeocin *zeo* (Cove 2006). These genes are normally driven by the *Cauliflower mosaic virus* (CaMV) 35S promoter (Mittmann *et al.* 2004) and terminated by nopaline synthetase (NOS) terminator or the CaMV 35S terminator.

Overexpression vector

Although the CaMV 35S promoter is used widely, various promoters are also applicable in P. patens depending on desirable level of expression required. When activities of various promoters were compared to CaMV 35S promoter (Horstmann et al. 2004), the complete rice actin I (Act1) gene promoter showed the highest level of activity, 10-fold more than the normal CaMV 35S promoter, followed by a tandemly duplicated CaMV 35S promoter with 6-fold more activity. A single long version of the CaMV 35S promoter and the truncated version of the rice Act1 promoter showed about 4-fold activity. In comparison, a lower level induction was achieved with two endogenous promoters of P. patens, α 1,3-fucosyltransferase (fuc-t) or β 1,2-xylosyltransferase (xyl-t), which exhibited about 2-fold and one third of the expression level, respectively. Promoters of maize ubiquitin (Bezanilla et al. 2003) and the wheat early-methionine-labeled (EM) gene (Knight et al. 1995) were also reported as strong promoters, even though there was no direct comparison with the CaMV 35S promoter. In particular, the EM promoter was strongly induced by 10 µM ABA treatment.

A chemical inducible system based on bacterial quorum-sensing system is also available for *P. patens* (You *et al.* 2006). When the traR protein binds 3-oxooctanyl-L-homoserine lactone (OOHL), it specifically recognizes the *tra* box in a promoter. The traR protein induced the reporter gene expression by 7-fold in the presence of 100 μ M OOHL for 24 h in *P. patens*, compared to CaMV 35S promoter.

Targeting vector

P. patens exhibits a high rate of gene targeting by homologous recombination (HR), which allows for the study of genes (Cove 2006). Since the first report on HR in *P. patens* (Schaefer and Zryd 1997), a number of studies have reported gene targeting via HR (Strepp *et al.* 1998; Girod *et al.* 1999; Sakakibara *et al.* 2003; Mittmann *et al.* 2004; Lee *et al.* 2005; Kaewsuwan *et al.* 2006; Perroud and Quatrano



Fig. 2 Vector construction for gene knock-out by allele replacement. (A) Wild type (Wt) locus. (B) Vector for an inactivation of locus and the structure of recombined locus in transgenic lines. (C) Vector for a complete deletion of locus and the structure of recombined locus in transgenic lines. The hatched boxes in A and B indicate a functional domain. "start" and "stop" indicate start and stop codon of a gene, respectively. "Selection cassette" indicates a cassette for the selection of transgenic lines on selection media, for example, CaMV 35S promoter::selection marker::terminator.

2006). Although there are many proposed mechanisms and models of the targeting event (Quatrano et al. 2007), we describe the practical factors to be considered for targeting vector construction. In general, allele replacement has been tried to disrupt the function of a locus by HR, and two approaches have been utilized (Fig. 2). The first is a disrup-tion of the locus (Strepp *et al.* 1998), and the other is a complete deletion of the locus (Kaewsuwan et al. 2006). The disruption of the locus (Fig. 2B) has been used by many studies, in which the cDNA (Strepp et al. 1998; Girod et al. 1999) or genomic DNA (Sakakibara et al. 2003) sequence of the gene were cloned into the vector. However, the efficiency of HR may be lowered by the use of cDNA because unmatched exon-intron structure may hamper the integration of the cDNA fragment. Relevant restriction enzyme sites in the gene have to be identified for insertion of a selection cassette. The restriction site should be in the middle of a gene and within an exon to ensure the similar length of flanking sequences and functional deletion of the gene. The deletion of short genomic DNA fragment by two restriction enzymes for insertion of selection cassette enhances the reliability (Frank et al. 2005). However, an uncertainty of the final phenotype exists in this approach, because the intact 5' targeting region within the targeting vector may result in a truncated version of target protein, which may cause a phenotype. In particular, if certain functional domains or motifs locate at the 5' targeting arm (the hatched boxes in Fig. 2A, 2B), it may lead to an incorrect interpretation for the function of gene. In contrast, the deletion of locus makes more reliable result (Fig. 2C), because the 5'-upstream and 3'-downstream regions from open reading frame (ORF) which are cloned into targeting construct ensure the complete deletion of the locus by HR (Kaewsuwan *et al.* 2006; Perroud and Quatrano 2006). This approach can also target tandemly-located loci on the genome by a single transformation. In addition, a promoter region can be completely deleted by this way without leaving any *cis*-element. Furthermore, generated mutants can be complemented with constructs which have various versions of modification of the gene for studying roles of functional domains as well as function of gene. Nevertheless, previously, it required more steps to obtain the sequences of 5'upstream and 3'-downstream regions such as the inverse PCR and genomic DNA library screening. However, the genome sequencing of *P. patens* has facilitated to clone by a round of PCR.

Various approaches resulted in successful gene targeting. The efficiency of HR tends to be increased by linearized DNA exposing the flanking sequences at both ends of transforming DNA using restriction enzyme digestions or PCR (Cove 2006). The length of the flanking region for HR was also important for HR. The size of one flanking region should be bigger than 300 bp, and the flanking regions should be symmetric. In general, the size of each of the two flanking regions should be at least 600-800 bp, which results in about 50% of stable transformants with HR.

RNAi vector

Gene targeting by HR is limited to a single locus at any one time. Considering that many genes exist as multiple copies and their functions are redundant, several rounds of trans-



Fig. 3 RNAi vector construction (adapted from Bezanilla et al. 2005). The pTUGGi vector is a destination vector having Gateway cassettes. Ubi promoter, ubiquitin promoter; GFP, green fluorescent protein; GoI, gene of interest.

formation to obtain desirable knock out mutants is necessary. However, RNA interference (RNAi) makes it possible to overcome this obstacle (Shimomura et al. 2006; Mei et al. 2007; Ueno et al. 2007). RNAi was reported in P. patens using a stable line (NLS-4) expressing GFP in its nuclei by a fusion with nuclear localization signal (Bezanilla et al. 2003). A specially designed vector (pTUGGi) containing GFP sequence has been utilized for rapid screening of GFP silencing as an indicative of positive RNAi transformation in the NLS-4 line (Bezanilla et al. 2005). The pTUGGi vector takes advantage of the Gateway technology (Invitrogen, USA) in order to shuttle sequences between plasmids containing corresponding recombination sites (Fig. 3). After transformation into the NLS4 line, positive transformants can be screened under a fluorescent microscope by GFP silencing. Using this RNAi approach, ARPC1, a component of the actin-related protein2/3 (Arp2/3), was demonstrated to play a critical role in polarized growth and cell division patterning (Harries et al. 2005).

CHLOROPLAST TRANSFORMATION

Chloroplasts have their own genome, replicate independently and inherit traits maternally. Chloroplast transformation was shown to be advantageous over nuclear transformation, since maternal inheritance avoided possible transgene contamination to other plants, as well as the high copy chloroplast genome possibly resulting in a higher level of protein expression (Daniell et al. 1998; Kota et al. 1999; Maliga 2002; Daniell 2006). In addition, the function of chloroplast genes can be investigated by a targeted knockout using chloroplast transformation thorough HR. However, successful chloroplast transformation has been limited to several plant species such as tobacco (Svab and Maliga 1993), Arabidopsis (Sidorov et al. 1999), rice (Lee et al. 2006), and tomato (Ruf et al. 2001). P. patens is one of the plants available for chloroplast transformation (Sugiura and Sugita 2004). The arginine tRNA gene, trnR-CCG is transcribed at a very low level, and the codon usage of CGG is very low in chloroplast-coding proteins, suggesting that is trnR-CCG non functional. This was confirmed by chloroplast transformation with PEG-mediated transformation using a selection cassette with a spectinomycin-resistance gene (aadA) which is commonly used in chloroplast transformation in seed plants. In the future, this locus may be able to be used as a target for over production of foreign protein in terms of molecular farming.

TAGGED-MUTANT LIBRARIES

In order to generate a collection of mutants, a gene-trap system is often utilized. In a gene-trap system, a reporter gene without a promoter is randomly inserted into the genome, and tissue-specific genes expressing the reporter are identified (Hiwatashi et al. 2001). The gene-trap system was also applied to P. patens with genomic DNA (Nishiyama et al. 2000; Hiwatashi et al. 2001) or cDNA libraries (Egener et al. 2002) of P. patens inserted by mini transposon-tagged trap elements, which facilitated integration of constructs via HR. Higher phenotypic deviations were observed when a cDNA library was used (16.2%) (Egener et al. 2002) compared to a genomic DNA library (3.9%) (Nishiyama et al. 2000). The difference in efficiency might be due to the use of the cDNA library which is the collection of expressed genes. This technique was expanded to give rise to 73,329 mutant lines transformed with various sets of disruption cDNA libraries (Schween et al. 2005). Gametophyte libraries were constructed from protonema and gametophore tissues with various treatments and time points. In case of the sporophyte library, samples from different parts of a tissue and of time points were harvested. The phenotypic deviations from wild type were standardized with 16 categories such as plant structure, color, leaf shape, cell shape, and uniformity of leaves. These collections should be valuable sources for functional study of genes.

If *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation is easily available in *P. patens* in the future (Cove 2006), a T-DNA tagging mutant library should provide another valuable source of mutant collection.

CONCLUSION

The moss *P. patens* has been increasingly used as a model plant during the last ten years (Cove 2006), mainly because of efficient gene targeting through HR. With the public release of the genome sequence, the genes of *P. patens* have become more easily accessible (Quatrano *et al.* 2007). Therefore, for the functional studies of genes of interest, every tool is available and the method straightforward in *P. patens*. Simply, one just finds homologues in the *Physco-mitrella* genome, clones the genomic sequences, constructs knock-out vectors, and targets the genes. All of these processes can be finished within three to five months depending on the target and procedures. This will provide plant researchers an excellent alternative in the post genome-era.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank to Dr. Pierre-François Perroud and Dr. Abha Khandelwal from Washington University in St. Louis, USA for critical reading of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Ashton NW, Cove DJ (1977) The isolation and preliminary characterisation of auxotrophic and analogue-resistant mutants of the moss, *Physcomitrella* patens. Molecular and General Genetics 154, 87-95
- Baur A, Kaufmann F, Rolli H, Weise A, Luethje R, Berg B, Braun M, Baeumer W, Kietzmann M, Reski R, Gorr G (2005) A fast and flexible PEGmediated transient expression system in plants for high level expression of secreted recombinant proteins. *Journal of Biotechnology* 119, 332-342
- Bezanilla M, Pan A, Quatrano RS (2003) RNA interference in the moss Physcomitrella patens. Plant Physiology 133, 470-474
- Bezanilla M, Perroud PF, Pan A, Klueh P, Quatrano RS (2005) An RNAi system in *Physcomitrella patens* with an internal marker for silencing allows for rapid identification of loss of function phenotypes. *Plant Biology (Stuttgart, Germany)* 7, 251-257
- Cho SH, Chung YS, Cho SK, Rim YW, Shin JS (1999) Particle bombardment mediated transformation and GFP expression in the moss *Physcomitrella patens*. *Molecules and Cells* 9, 14-19
- Cove D (2000) The moss, *Physcomitrella patens*. Journal of Plant Growth Regulation 19, 275-283
- Cove D, Benzanilla M, Harries P, Quatrano R (2006) Mosses as model systems for the study of metabolism and development. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 57, 497-520
- Cove DJ (2006) The moss Physcomitrella patens. Annual Review of Genetics 39, 339-358
- **Cove DJ, Knight CD** (1993) The Moss *Physcomitrella patens*, a model system with potential for the study of plant reproduction. *The Plant Cell* **5**, 1483-1488
- Daniell H, Datta R, Varma S, Gray S, Lee SB (1998) Containment of herbicide resistance through genetic engineering of the chloroplast genome. *Nature Biotechnology* 16, 345-348
- Daniell H (2006) Production of biopharmaceuticals and vaccines in plants via the chloroplast genome. *Biotechnology Journal* 1, 1071-1079
- Decker EL, Reski R (2004) The moss bioreactor. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 7, 166-170
- Egener T, Granado J, Guitton MC, Hohe A, Holtorf H, Lucht JM, Rensing SA, Schlink K, Schulte J, Schween G, Zimmermann S, Duwenig E, Rak B, Reski R (2002) High frequency of phenotypic deviations in *Physcomitrella patens* plants transformed with a gene-disruption library. *BMC Plant Biology* **2**, 6
- Frank W, Decker EL, Reski R (2005) Molecular tools to study Physcomitrella patens. Plant Biology (Stuttgart, Germany) 7, 220-227
- Girod PA, Fu H, Zryd JP, Vierstra RD (1999) Multiubiquitin chain binding subunit MCB1 (RPN10) of the 26S proteasome is essential for developmental progression in *Physcomitrella patens*. *The Plant Cell* **11**, 1457-1472
- Harries PA, Pan A, Quatrano RS (2005) Actin-related protein2/3 complex component ARPC1 is required for proper cell morphogenesis and polarized cell growth in *Physcomitrella patens*. *The Plant Cell* **17**, 2327-2339
- Hiwatashi Y, Nishiyama T, Fujita T, Hasebe M (2001) Establishment of genetrap and enhancer-trap systems in the moss *Physcomitrella patens*. *The Plant Journal* 28, 105-116
- Horstmann V, Huether CM, Jost W, Reski R, Decker EL (2004) Quantitative

promoter analysis in *Physcomitrella patens*: a set of plant vectors activating gene expression within three orders of magnitude. *BMC Biotechnology* **4**, 13

- Imaizumi T, Kadota A, Hasebe M, Wada M (2002) Cryptochrome light signals control development to suppress auxin sensitivity in the moss *Physcomitrella patens*. *The Plant Cell* 14, 373-386
- Kaewsuwan S, Cahoon EB, Perroud PF, Wiwat C, Panvisavas N, Quatrano RS, Cove DJ, Bunyapraphatsara N (2006) Identification and functional characterization of the moss *Physcomitrella patens* Δ5-desaturase gene involved in arachidonic and eicosapentaenoic acid biosynthesis. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 281, 21988-21997
- Kamisugi Y, Cuming AC (2005) The evolution of the abscisic acid-response in land plants: comparative analysis of group 1 LEA gene expression in moss and cereals. *Plant Molecular Biology* 59, 723-737
- Kamisugi Y, Schlink K, Rensing SA, Schween G, von Stackelberg M, Cuming AC, Reski R, Cove DJ (2006) The mechanism of gene targeting in *Physcomitrella patens*: homologous recombination, concatenation and multiple integration. *Nucleic Acids Research* 34, 6205-6214
- Knight CD, Sehgal A, Atwal K, Wallace JC, Cove DJ, Coates D, Quatrano RS, Bahadur S, Stockley PG, Cuming AC (1995) Molecular responses to abscisic acid and stress are conserved between moss and cereals. *The Plant Cell* 7, 499-506
- Kota M, Daniell H, Varma S, Garczynski SF, Gould F, Moar WJ (1999) Overexpression of the *Bacillus thuringiensis* (Bt) Cry2Aa2 protein in chloroplasts confers resistance to plants against susceptible and Bt-resistant insects. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 96, 1840-1845
- Lee KJ, Sakata Y, Mau SL, Pettolino F, Bacic A, Quatrano RS, Knight CD, Knox JP (2005) Arabinogalactan proteins are required for apical cell extension in the moss *Physcomitrella patens*. *The Plant Cell* **17**, 3051-3065
- Lee SM, Kang K, Chung H, Yoo SH, Xu XM, Lee SB, Cheong JJ, Daniell H, Kim M (2006) Plastid transformation in the monocotyledonous cereal crop, rice (*Oryza sativa*) and transmission of transgenes to their progeny. *Molecules and Cells* 21, 401-410
- Maliga P (2002) Engineering the plastid genome of higher plants. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 5, 164-172
- Marella HH, Sakata Y, Quatrano RS (2006) Characterization and functional analysis of ABSCISIC ACID INSENSITIVE3-like genes from *Physcomitrella patens. The Plant Journal* 46, 1032-1044
- Mei C, Zhou X, Yang Y (2007) Use of RNA interference to dissect defensesignaling pathways in rice. *Methods in Molecular Biology* 354, 161-171
- Mittmann F, Brucker G, Zeidler M, Repp A, Abts T, Hartmann E, Hughes J (2004) Targeted knockout in *Physcomitrella* reveals direct actions of phytochrome in the cytoplasm. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* USA 101, 13939-13944
- Nishiyama T, Hiwatashi Y, Sakakibara I, Kato M, Hasebe M (2000) Tagged mutagenesis and gene-trap in the moss *Physcomitrella patens* by shuttle mutagenesis. *DNA Research* 7, 9-17
- Perroud PF, Quatrano RS (2006) The role of ARPC4 in tip growth and alignment of the polar axis in filaments of *Physcomitrella patens*. Cell Motility and the Cytoskeleton 63, 162-171
- Quatrano RS, McDaniel SF, Khandelwal A, Perroud PF, Cove DJ (2007) Physcomitrella patens: mosses enter the genomic age. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 10, 182-189

Reski R (1999) Molecular genetics of Physcomitrella. Planta 208, 301-309

- Reski R, Frank W (2005) Moss (*Physcomitrella patens*) functional genomics -Gene discovery and tool development, with implications for crop plants and human health. *Briefings in Functional Genomics and Proteomics* 4, 48-57
- Ruf S, Hermann M, Berger IJ, Carrer H, Bock R (2001) Stable genetic transformation of tomato plastids and expression of a foreign protein in fruit. *Nature Biotechnology* **19**, 870-875
- Sakakibara K, Nishiyama T, Sumikawa N, Kofuji R, Murata T, Hasebe M (2003) Involvement of auxin and a homeodomain-leucine zipper I gene in rhizoid development of the moss *Physcomitrella patens*. *Development* 130, 4835-4846
- Sawahel W, Onde S, Knight D, Cove DJ (1992) Transfer of foreign DNA into *Physcomitrella patens* protonemal tissue by using the gene gun. *Plant Molecular Biology Reporter* 10, 314-315
- Schaefer D, Zryd JP, Knight CD, Cove DJ (1991) Stable transformation of the moss Physcomitrella patens. Molecular and General Genetics 226, 418-424
- Schaefer DG (2001) Gene targeting in Physcomitrella patens. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 4, 143-150
- Schaefer DG, Zryd JP (1997) Efficient gene targeting in the moss Physicomitrella patens. The Plant Journal 11, 1195-1206
- Schaefer DG, Zryd JP (2001) The moss *Physcomitrella patens*, now and then. *Plant Physiology* **127**, 1430-1438
- Schulz PA, Hofmann AH, Russo VE, Hartmann E, Laloue M, von Schwartzenberg K (2001) Cytokinin overproducing ove mutants of *Physcomitrella* patens show increased riboside to base conversion. *Plant Physiology* 126, 1224-1231
- Schumaker KS, Dietrich MA (1998) Hormone-induced signaling during moss development. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 49, 501-523
- Shimomura K, Nomura M, Tajima S, Kouchi H (2006) LjnsRING, a novel RING finger protein, is required for symbiotic interactions between *Mesorhizobium loti* and *Lotus japonicus*. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 47, 1572-1581
- Sidorov VA, Kasten D, Pang SZ, Hajdukiewicz PT, Staub JM, Nehra NS (1999) Technical Advance: Stable chloroplast transformation in potato: use of green fluorescent protein as a plastid marker. *The Plant Journal* 19, 209-216
- Strepp R, Scholz S, Kruse S, Speth V, Reski R (1998) Plant nuclear gene knockout reveals a role in plastid division for the homolog of the bacterial cell division protein FtsZ, an ancestral tubulin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 95, 4368-4373
- Sugiura C, Sugita M (2004) Plastid transformation reveals that moss tRNA (Arg)-CCG is not essential for plastid function. *The Plant Journal* 40, 314-321
- Svab Z, Maliga P (1993) High-frequency plastid transformation in tobacco by selection for a chimeric aadA gene. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 90, 913-917
- Ueno Y, Ishikawa T, Watanabe K, Terakura S, Iwakawa H, Okada K, Machida C, Machida Y (2007) Histone deacetylases and ASYMMETRIC LEAVES2 are involved in the establishment of polarity in leaves of Arabidopsis. The Plant Cell 19, 445-457
- You YS, Marella H, Zentella R, Zhou Y, Ulmasov T, Ho TH, Quatrano RS (2006) Use of bacterial quorum-sensing components to regulate gene expression in plants. *Plant Physiology* **140**, 1205-1212